#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BRADLEY JAMES JACKSON,	
Petitioner,	
v.	CASE NO. SC09-2383
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Respondent.	

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW
OF A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

### PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CARL S. McGINNES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850)606-8530

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER FLA. BAR NO. 230502

#

#### I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Bradley James Jackson was the "defendant" in the trial court, and the "appellee" before the District Court of Appeal, First District of Florida. He will be referred to in this brief as "petitioner," "defendant," or his proper name.

Filed with this brief is an appendix containing a copy of the opinion issued by the district court in petitioner's case, *State v. Jackson*, 34 FLW D2412 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA Nov. 24, 2009).

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The district court's opinion in *State v. Jackson* reveals that in petitioner's case, the trial court imposed a downward departure sentence, orally stating the reason for the departure was that petitioner was amenable to drug rehabilitation. No written departure order was filed.

On appeal by the state, the district court reversed, finding the sole orally stated reason, that petitioner was amenable to drug rehabilitation, ran afoul of *State v. Owens*, 848 So.2d 1203 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2003) and Section 921.0026(2)(d), Florida Statutes (2008).

On appeal to the district court, petitioner argued that, on remand, the trial court may again impose a departure sentence, relying upon *State v. Williams*, 20 So.3d 419 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009); *State v. Davis*, 997 So.2d 1278 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009); and *State v. Berry*, 976 So.2d 645 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008). In each of those cases, the third district remanded for resentencing, giving the trial court an opportunity to again impose a downward departure sentence on remand upon finding of a valid reason.

The district court rejected this argument, interpreting the Court's decisions in *Pope v. State*, 561 So.2d 554 (Fla. 1990) and *Shull v. Dugger*, 515 So.2d 748 (Fla. 1987) as requiring a sentence within the guidelines on remand, with no possibility of a downward departure sentence. In so doing, the district court certified "...conflict with *Williams*, *Berry*, and *Davis*, to the extent they conflict with this opinion." *Id*.

## III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Since the length of the actual argument is within the page limitations for a summary of the argument, a formal summary will be omitted here.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED:**

THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT IN PETITIONER'S CASE, *STATE V. JACKSON*, WAS CERTIFIED TO BE IN DIRECT CONFLICT WITH THE THIRD DISTRICT'S DECISIONS IN *STATE V. WILLIAMS*; *STATE V. DAVIS*; AND *STATE V. BERRY* ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW, THUS CONFERRING DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION PURSUANT TO ARTICLE V, SECTION (3)(b)(4), CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, AND FLORIDA RULE OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi).

Both Article V, Section (3)(b)(4), Constitution of the State of Florida, and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi), confer discretionary jurisdiction over a decision of a district court of appeal that is certified by it to be in direct conviction with a decision of another district court of appeal.

The district court in petitioner's case, *State v. Jackson*, expressly recognized in the opinion itself that its decision was in "...conflict with *Williams*, *Berry*, and *Davis*, to the extent they conflict with this opinion." *Id*. Thus, the Court has discretionary jurisdiction under Article V, Section (3)(b)(4) and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi).

Petitioner further argues district court's recognition of conflict was correct. In *Nielsen v. City of Sarasota*, 117 So.2d 731 (Fla. 1969), reaffirmed in *Wallace v. Dean*, 3 So.3d 1035 (Fla. 2009), the Court observed it has jurisdiction over district court decisions having substantially the same controlling material facts as other decisions, but that reach opposite results.

In petitioner's case, a state appeal of a downward departure sentence, the district court invalidated the only oral reason given for the departure and then remanded for a guidelines sentence, with no further possibility of a downward

departure sentence on remand. The three cases in conflict, *Williams*, *Davis*, and *Berry*, were each state appeals of downward departure sentence. In each case, the third district found the initial grounds relied upon for the departure sentences imposed were legally invalid. But unlike the district court's decision on petitioner's case, the third district ruled that a downward departure sentence could be re-imposed on remand, provided a legally valid ground is presented to the trial court.

The decision in petitioner's case has the same controlling material facts that are present in *Williams*, *Davis*, and *Berry*, but reached the opposite result with respect to the possibility of a departure sentence on remand.

Thus, even if the district court had not expressly recognized conflict with *Williams*, *Davis*, and *Berry*, the Court would have discretionary "express and direct conflict" jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section (3)(b)(3), Constitution of the State of Florida, and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A) (iv).

#### V. CONCLUSION

Petitioner requests the Court to accept jurisdiction and require briefing on the merits.