IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BRADLEY JAMES JACKSON,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

Case No. SC09-2383

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

TRISHA MEGGS PATE
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0045489

HEATHER FLANAGAN ROSS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 036428

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 992-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Appellant in the District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State.

Petitioner, Bradley James Jackson, the Appellee in the DCA and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or proper name.

"PJB" will designate Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief. That symbol is followed by the appropriate page number.

A bold typeface will be used to add emphasis. Italics appeared in original quotations, unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The pertinent history and facts are set out in the decision of the lower tribunal, attached in slip opinion form (hereinafter referenced as "slip op." at [page number]"). It also can be found at <u>State v. Jackson</u>, 22 So.3d 817 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner asserts that the lower court has certified direct conflict of decision between its opinion entered below and that of the Third District Court of Appeal in State v. Williams, 20 So.3d 419 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009), State v. Davis, 997 So.2d 1278 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009), and State v. Berry, 976 So.2d 645 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008). The "four corners" of the DCAs' decisions, reveal no express and direct conflict with each other on the same point of law. The three conflict cases are factually and procedurally dissimilar to the case on appeal. Therefore, there is no express and direct conflict, and this Court should not exercise jurisdiction.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: IS THERE EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT
BETWEEN THE DECISION BELOW AND STATE V. WILLIAMS, 20
SO.3D 419 (FLA. 3D DCA 2009), STATE V. DAVIS, 997
SO.2D 1278 (FLA. 3D DCA 2009), AND STATE V. BERRY,
976 SO.2D 645 (FLA. 3D DCA 2008)? (RESTATED)

Jurisdictional Criteria

The First District Court of Appeal reversed in State v. Jackson, 22 So.2d 817(Fla. 1st DCA 2009), holding that the trial court's failure to provide reasons sufficient to justify a departure sentence required reversal and remand for resentencing within the guidelines. The First District Court relied Pope v. State, 561 So.2d 554 (Fla. 1990)(citing Shull v. Dugger, 515 So.2d 748 (Fla. 1987)); State v. Owens, 848 So.2d 1199 (Fla. 1^{st} DCA 2003); Jerry v. State, 19 So.3d 1167 (Fla. 1^{st} DCA 2009) and State v. Dunn, 9 So.3d 666 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009). The First District certified conflict with State v. Williams, 20 So.3d 419 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009) (reversing and remanding "for resentencing to include written reasons" for downward departure); State v. Davis, 997 So.2d 1278 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009)(reversing a downward departure sentence for lack of written reasons, finding on remand "[t]his ruling does not preclude the imposition of a sentence that departs from the sentencing quidelines..."); and State v. Berry, 976 So.2d 645 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008) (noting a downward departure sentence without valid reason for departure must be remanded for resentencing, but finding "[t]he defendant suggests there is a valid reason for departure" which "can be raised in the trial court on remand.").

Petitioner contends that this Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Fla.

R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), which parallels Article V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. The constitution provides:

The supreme court ... [m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal ... that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law.

The conflict between decisions "must be express and direct" and "must appear within the four corners of the majority decision." Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). Accord Dept. of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Nat'l Adoption Counseling Service, Inc., 498 So. 2d 888, 889 (Fla. 1986) (rejected "inherent" or "implied" conflict; dismissed petition). Neither the record, nor a concurring opinion, nor a dissenting opinion can be used to establish jurisdiction. Reaves, 485 So. 2d at 830; Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980)("regardless of whether they are accompanied by a dissenting or concurring opinion"). Thus, conflict cannot be based upon "unelaborated per curiam denials of relief," Stallworth v. Moore, 827 So. 2d 974 (Fla. 2002).

In Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So. 2d 808, 810 (Fla. 1958), this Court explained:

It was never intended that the district courts of appeal should be intermediate courts. The revision and modernization of the Florida judicial system at the appellate level was prompted by the great volume of cases reaching the Supreme Court and the consequent delay in the administration of justice. The new article embodies throughout its terms the idea of a Supreme Court which functions as a supervisory body in the judicial system for the State, exercising appellate power in certain specified areas essential to the settlement of issues of public importance and the preservation of uniformity of principle and practice, with review by the district courts in most instances being final and absolute.

Accordingly, the determination of conflict jurisdiction distills to whether the District Court's decision reached a result opposite <u>State v. Williams</u>, 20 So.3d 419 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009), <u>State v. Davis</u>, 997 So.2d 1278 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009), and State v. Berry, 976 So.2d 645 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008).

The decision below is not in "express and direct conflict" with State v. Williams, State v. Davis, and State v. Berry.

Petitioner maintains that because <u>Williams</u>, <u>Davis</u> and <u>Berry</u> have the same controlling material facts and the Third District reached an opposite result in all three cases, then the present case is in conflict. The State adamantly disagrees. By closely examining all of three opinions, it is clear that all three cases are factually and procedurally dissimilar to the present case; therefore, no express and direct conflict exists.

Beginning with State v. Berry, 976 So.2d 645 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008), the State offered a plea bargain for a downward departure sentence. Once this case was before the trial court, the defendant requested an even lower sentence than the State offered and the trial court accepted it. The State withdrew the plea bargain offer and objected to the downward departure sentence by the trial court. The Third District held, "[i]n the absence of a valid reason for downward departure, we are obligated to reverse and remand for resentencing consistent with the guidelines, or to permit the defendant to withdraw this plea." Id. at 645; citing State v. Green, 932 So.2d 365 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006)(the sentence is reversed and the cause remanded either to sentence defendant within the guidelines or to permit him to withdraw his plea.). The Third District stated, "[t]he defendant

suggests that there is a valid reason for downward departure. That issue can be raised in the trial court on remand." Id. However, the Third District did not cite to any authority for that proposition and left the interpretation open-ended.

On motion for rehearing, the Third District in State v. Davis, 997

So. 2d 1278 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009), relied on their opinion in Berry. In Davis, the trial court entered into a plea with the defendant over the State's objection. Id. at 1278. The Third District reversed and remanded the case back to the trial court in order to vacate the judgment and sentence and allow the defendant to withdraw his plea. The Third District stated, "[t]his ruling does not preclude the imposition of a sentence that departs from the sentencing guidelines, and it supported by valid grounds for the departure." Id. at 1278-1279. The Third District seems to being implying that if a defendant is allowed to withdraw his plea and begin the trial process over, then the trial court can impose a downward departure sentence then; however this extremely short opinion doesn't clarify whether this means after the plea withdrawal or not.

In <u>State v. Williams</u>, 20 So.3d 419 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009), the Third District relied on <u>Davis</u>. In <u>Williams</u>, the defendant pled guilty in two separate cases. In one case, he was designated as a Habitual Felony Offender and the other case, he was designated as a Prison Releasee Reoffender. The trial court improperly downward departure in both cases. The Third District stated:

As the defendant was sentenced to a lesser sentence under the habitual offender act without oral or written reasons for the

downward departure, and as prison release under the act without the reoffender designations, we reverse the trial court's order and the cause is remanded for resentencing, to include written reasons for the departure and designations for habitual offender and prison release, or for withdrawal of the plea.

<u>Id</u>. at 421. The Third District just cited to a case that held that outcome that it wanted. The <u>Berry</u> and <u>Davis</u> opinions are completely dissimilar and distinguishable from Williams, and should have not been included in this certification.

The present case is factually and procedurally dissimilar and distinguishable from the cases that the First District certified conflict with. In Tasker, the State appealed the downward departure sentence. The trial court did not enter rewritten reasons. The First District reversed and remanded this case back to the trial court for resentencing within the guidelines. The Third District in Berry and Davis allowed the defendant to withdraw his plea or resentencing within the guidelines because the defendant entered into the plea in reliance on a sentencing agreement between the defendant and the trial court, to which the State objected. Under these circumstances resentencing within the guidelines may be an appropriate remedy. Implicitly, it appears that the Third District is instituting an exception by allowing defendants to withdraw their pleas when the trial court abused its discretion in both cases by heavily participating in plea negotiations with the defendants and with objections

from the State. ¹ Nothing of the sort occurred in the present case, and it is clear that these cases are distinguishable from the present case.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing discussions, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court not to exercise jurisdiction.

 $^{\rm 1}$ Both Berry and Davis appear to have violations of State v. Warner, 762 So.2d 507 (Fla. 2000).